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THE CASE OF WANG JUNTAO

Thns report presents records from one of t.he most lmportant polmcal trials in the’ aftermat.h of
~ the Tiananmen crackdown of June 4, 1989, On February 12, 1991, the Beijing Intermediate Court
~ tried Wang Juntao and Chen Ziming separately as the alleged masterminds and "black hands" of the
: democracy movement. Almost immediately followmg the closed hearings, the court sentenced each to
5 atotal of 18 years' imprisonment and four years’ depnvauon of political rlghts for the crimes of

“conspiring to subvert the government” and carrymg out counterrevolunonary propaganda and
_mcntement." , :

)“'\

Despnte t.he Chmese government’s pohcy of closmg polmcal trials to outside observers, records
of Wang Juntao’s defense and verdict have come to lxght. In contrast to the usual pracuce of ,
‘conceding guilt and argumg only for leniency in sentencing, Wang Juntao argued his innocence of the
charges brought agamst him. His lawyers, Sun Yachen and Zhang Sizhi, prepared an unusually
vigorous defense in the four days allotted them before the proceeding. As set forth in the statement
~ that follows, the two lawyers attacked the indictment and the prosecution’s arguments as unsupported
by the evidence and grossly misleading.

Wang himself denied any culpabrhty. and responded with a general defense of t.he democracy
movement. In a letter to his lawyers, he explamed "I got angry when the public prosecutor accused
me of being counterrevolutionary by opposing leaders. A defense should not be limited to saying ‘I do
not oppose leaders’ but should allow for the legitimate right to oppose leaders."! According to

reports he appeared thin and ill,2 and later wrote his lawyers he felt dnzzy, his ears rang, and that he
had difficulty following the proceedings.

The prosecution's evidence, which took" two and a half hours.to read,3 alleged that Wang

Juntao and Chen Ziming conspired at an April 1989 symposium through statements critical of the
socialist system and leadership. It further alleged that at a subsequent meeting Wang suggested that a
political party should be formed to control the democracy movement from behind the scenes, and that
Wang, through the "Protect the Constitution Committee” was implicated in a statement declaring -
martial law a "fascist terrorist” tactic. The prosecution also charged Wang with efforts to block troo
who were trying to enter Beijing and anti-government leafletting in Tiananmen Square. Although the
defense statement that follows challengcd the basis of each accusation, the court closely adhered to the
proseéution’s line of argument in its verdict, which was announced a mere hour after the close of

1 "Wang laments a lack of conviction by fellow dissidents" South China Morning . Posl March 2, 1991. The edited
text of Wangs letter is printed on p 17-18, infra.

-2 'BBC World Service "Topical Talks" February 18, 1991.
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"a"g“ment." R ‘ S o .

In a letter to his lawyers lmmcdlately followmg the trial, Wang explained that he felt obhged
to defend in court the democracy movement’s views, including those not his own, out of respect for -
those who died. He lamented the fact that many leaders and sponsors of the. movement failed to
shoulder their responsibility in order to lighten their sentences. Another reason he spoke on behalf of
the democracy movement, nskmg a heavy sentence as a consequence, was his desire to defend the
basic rights of citizens to legitimately voice opposmon to leaders. He expressed respect for the
‘devotion and determination of the elder generation of lcaders and submitted it was ironic they now
" were scntencmg him.

Both Wang Juntao and Chen Zumng have appealed their verdicts, Wang requesting his
lawycrs to represent him on appeal. However, Wang's la\?ers reportedly have come under
- government pressure not to continue their represcnmuon Sun Yachen, a lawyer from Luoyang, -
Henan province, took Wang Juntao’s case in defidnce of instructions from the Ministry of Justice.
When Sun returned to Luoyang after the trial was over, the Ministry forbade him from handling the
appeal. He cited "private reasons” to Wang’s wife, Hou Xiaotian, for withdrawing from the case. Hou
_will argue the appeal herself. Zhang Snzhx Wang s Beijing counsel, also declined to reprcsent Wang
on appeal.

The focus on Wang and Chen as the masterminds of the 1989 demonstrauons was
underscored by the announcement on March 4, 1991, of verdicts and sentences for three Hong Kong
citizens accused of aiding Wang Juntao and Chen Ziming in their unsuccessful effort to escape
- following the June 4 crackdown. The Guangzhou Municipal Intermediate Pcople s Court sentenced
Luo Haixing (Lo Hai-sing), a Hong Kong businessman accused of being "the main culprit" and Li
Peicheng (Lai Pui-sing) to five years’ imprisonment, and Li Longging (Li Lung-hing) to four for
“harboring counterrevolutionary elements." The court found Li Peicheng and Li Longging to have
been part of an "underground railway" out of China through which at least 14 dissidents escaped. It is
not known whether they will appeal their convictions.

Luo Haixing’s family is deciding whether to appeal his conviction on the grounds that the
evidence only shows he had merely carried messages between persons in Hong Kong and Guangdong
as to Chen’s whereabouts and had not tried to "conceal” counterrevolutionaries.® Luo’s family voiced
concern that the unexpectedly heavy sentence was due to Luo’s connection with members of the Hong
Kong Alhance in Support of the Patriotic Democratic Movement in China, a group Beijing consxdcrs
subversive.” Their lawyer has reportedly shown a "positive attitude” towards handling the appeal
All three, arrested separately, had been held seventeen to eighteen months before trial.

Y14,
5 "Lawyers refuse to defend Wang I-Itmg Kong Standard, March 4, 1991.

6 "ot appeal against Guangdong scntencc by S. L. Iaw, Hong Kong Standard March 5, 1991.

7 'HK trio jailed in China for helping dissidents to mpc " by Daniel Kwan and Chris Ycung, South China Moming
Post March 5, 1991.

$ "ot appeal against Guangdong sentence” by S. L. Law, Hong Kong Standard March 5, 1991.
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The documents included in this report are the "wanted" circular for Wang Juntao and other
democracy movement figures; the Beijing Intermediate People’s Court verdict; the defense statement
presented by Wang Juntao’s lawyers; a statement by Wang Juntao’s wife, Hou Xiaotian, announcing
Wang's intent to appeal the verdict; an edited version of a letter front Wang Juntao to his lawyers
following his trial; the Bill of Prosecution for Luo Haixing, Li Peicheng and Li Longqing; and the

~__ Guangzhou Municipal Intermediate People’s Court verdict in their case.
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'WANTED CIRCULAR

Ministry of Public Security, People’s Republic of China

‘Edited and printed by the Fifth Bureau
of the Ministry of Public Security s

October 1989

Note

Wang Juntao, Chen Ziming, Wu Xuecan, Liang Jingdun, Chai Ling and Feng Congde are
important criminals who incited, organized and directed the counterrevolutionary riot in Beijing.
They committed serious crimes, and abscond to avoid punishment. The Ministry of Public Security
has issued a wanted circular throughout the country for their arrest.

These important counterrevolutionary criminals may have concealed their identity and
dlsgmsed themselves. The broad masses are urged to sharpen their vigilance, actively provide clues

and assist the public security departments, so that these criminals can be apprehended as early as
possible.

Wang Juntao (alias Wang Xiaojun), male, 31, native of Henan Province, head of the privately
operated Beijing Socio-Economic Science Institute, deputy editor of "Economics Weekly." Height 1.75

meters, rather plump, dark complexion, round face, large eyes, rather thick lips, speaks with a Beijing
accent.

Chen Ziming (alias Li Bin), male, 37, native of Haiyan County, Zhejiang Province, head of the
privately operated Beijing Socio-Economic Science Institute. Height, 1.68 meters, rather plump, with

parted hair, round face, rather thick lips, slightly humped, walks with toes turned outward, speaks with
a Beijing accent. On the run with his wife Wang Zhihong.

Wang Zhihong, (alias Liu Hong), female, 32, ndtive of Shanghai. Height 1.62 meters, short
curled hair, rectangular face, double-fold eyelids, wears dark brown sun glasses.
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CRIMINAL VERDICT OF THE BEIJING INTERMEDIATE PEOPLE’S COURT

- Ay

- (1991) Intermediate/ Criminal/ No. 205

“ Public Prosecutors:

| Zhao Shiru, Procurator acting on behalf of the Sub-Procuratorate of the Beijing Municipal |
People’s Procuratorate. ' - ' o ' '
__ Jiang Yu, Procurator acting on behalf of the Sub-Procuratorate of the Beijing Municipal
People’s Procuratorate. o o : : ,

Defeﬁda‘n_t:_ ‘

Wang Juntao, male, 32; born in Gong County, Henan province; former deputy editor-in-chief
of Economics Weekly newspaper. Residence: Building 1, Gate 2, Door 2, 83 Fuxing Road, Haidian
District, Beijing. Arrested on November 24, 1990 on charges of conspiring to subvert the government
and carrying out counterrevolutionary propaganda and incitement. [The defendant is] currently in
custody. R .

Defenders:
Zhang Sizhi, Attorney, Beijing Municipality No. 5 Legal Affairs Office.

‘Sun Yachen, Attorney, Luoyang Municipality No. 3 Legal Affairs Office, Henan Province.

P On February 2, 1991, the Sub-Procuratorate brought an indictment in this court against the
~defendant, Wang Juntao, who was charged with conspiring to overthrow the socialist state and
“.conducting cduntgrrevqli;dohary propaganda and ingitement. This court formed a collegial panel in
“accordance with law and on February 12, 1991 opened the court session and conducted a public
hearing of the case. ' '

The collegial panel heard the public prosecutor’s speech in support of the prosecution;
questioned the defendant and listened to the defendant’s statement, defense and final statement;
listened to the defense counsel’s statement of defense; and verified testimony and evidence having a
direct bearing on the case. The following facts were ascertained:

During the late spring and early summer of 1989, there occurred in Beijing serious turmoil
and counterrevolutionary rebellion, the purpose of which was to overthrow China’s government and.
socialist system. During this period, the defendant, Wang Juntao, and his colleague, Chen Ziming
(prosecuted separately) together and in concert with Liu Gang and Chen Xiaoping (both prosecuted
separately) and others carried out a series of organized, planned, and premeditated activities aimed at
subverting China’s government and conducting counterrevolutionary propaganda and incitement.
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On April 23, 1989, at the Beijing Socnal and Economic Sciences Research Institute, Wang
‘Juntao participated in a meeting convened by Chen Ziming on the topic: "Evaluation of the Past Ten
Years and Assessment of the Current Situation.” At the meeting, Chen Ziming argued that
intellcctuals must shoulder an “historical duty” and "rapidly complete the process of organizing the
intelligentsia,” in order to "form a new source of lcadcrshlp for the common people.”

, Wang Juntao declared: "The government no longer has any social foundation which would
enablc it to control this crisis; it has no remaining basis of support.” "China’s leadership is once again
caught in the midst of a transition period. Over the next several years, the old politicians who were

. prev:ously forces for stability will successively depart from the scene.” "This is a period of great
opportunity.” Wang Juntao unequivocally stated: "After several decades of peaceful competition,
socialist civilization has proved itself the loser." China, he said, "verges on the juncture of a brand new.
civilization," and "present circumstances attest to the fact that the old methods are outdated.”
Therefore, "all the old methods cmployed by Chtnesgavdtmuon must be transformed, and the basic
tendency of this t:ransformatton will be toward mainstream cmllzanon ‘

“On May 13, some university students in Beijing began a hunger strike in Tiananmen Square.
On May 15; at a symposium on the topic of "Political Structural Reform and the Labor Umons, held
in the editorial office.of the publication China’s Worker's Movement, Wang Juntao, i in an attempt to stir
up support for his conspiracy to subvert the government, satd "There is a view which maintains that
simply by taking to the streets one is being highly radical.? This is absolutely not so. As long as guns
are not fired and arullcry is not used...I feel that none of this can be construed as bemg radical, and if
it’s really a case of settmg upa political party, then behind-the-scenes manipulation is pertmssnble *10

- On May 17 Wang Juntao and Chen Ziming convened a meetmg at the Jimen Hotel for the
purpose of conspiring and scheming to unite "all the various circles" to form an illegal organization.
On May 18, Wang Juntao colluded with Chen Ziming and mustered more than 20 so-called "elite
individuals” for a meeting at the Jimen Hotel, where they continued schemmg to establish this illegal
organization. At the meeting, Chen Ziming outlined his tactics for conspiring to subvert the
government: "The words of the elite will influence the students, and the words of the students will
influence people throughout the country.” In this way "a behind-the-scenes influence can be
transferred to center stage." Wang Juntao added: "Presently the confrontation between the students
on Tiananmen Square and the government is becoming less clear cut, and there is a danger that |
everyone’s hopes will be disappointed.” "The best approach would be to form a consultative
committee, and place ourselves clearly on the side of the students." "In this way we can influence
developments.”

At this meeting, with Wang Juntao’s approval, Bao Zunxin (prosccuted separately) rcad aloud
the "May 17 Declaration,” a counterrevolutionary circular concocted by Yan jlaqx. and solicited the
sngnatum of those prescnt. This "declaration" vilified the government by maintaining that it had "lost
its capacity for human feeling” and was "a governmcnt under the power of an autocrat.” It
characterized the turmoil as being "a great pamouc and democratic movement which will ﬁnally bury
autocracy and end the system of rule by emperor,” [thus] slandering the leaders of the Chinese

hen jilie

10-, .ye keyide." As Wang's defense lawyer pomts out (see below p- 12), the prosecution’s deletion of the remainder
of Wangs sentence here completely changes its original meaning. The full sentence (as found in the lawyer’s
statement) reads: *...and if it's really a case of setting up a political party, then behind-the-scenes mampulauon can
(ye keyt), indeed should, still be conducted within the scope of the law (zai ni zhege hefa fanwei hi nei)" The deliberate
omission of this latter portion makes the words "ye keyide' falsely acquire the meaning: "permissible."
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government and Communist Party and conspiring for their overthrow.

4 On May 19, Wang Juntao, in collusion with Chen Ziming, summoned Liu Gang, Chen =
Xiaoping and others for a meeting, chaired by Chen Ziming, at which they further concocted the plan
for establishing an illegal organization. At this meeting, he helped to concoct the counterrevolutionary
leaflct "A Letter to the People.” According to this rumor-mongering document, "military rule is about
to. be enforced at any moment, and the dark period which ensued from the repression of April 5, 1976
is about to be repeated.” The document incited the masses to "begin a nationwide work strike, class

. boycoft, and market boycott” and clamored for an "immediate convening of the Standing Committee

. of the National People’s Congress” for the purpose of dismissing the prime minister. On the morning

.~ of May 21, Wang Juntao and Liu Gang distributed almost 1000 copies of the counterrevolutionary
circular "A Letter to the People” at Tiananmen Square. : -

~_ On May 20, the State Council promulgated the order that certain areas of Beijing were to be
placed under martial law. During the night of May 20 and the early morning of May 21, Wang
Juntao summoned Liu Gang and others and together they drove along Beijing’s No. 2 Ring Road and
No. 3 Ring Road, surreptitiously observingll scenes of martial law troops being blocked and
obstructed. ‘ e :

Subsequently, on the evening of May 22, Wang Juntao and Chen Ziming went together to go
to the Monument to the People’s Heroes on Tiananmen Square, where they summoned the leaders of
all the various illegal organizations and convened a preparatory meeting for the founding of the "All
Circles" illegal organization. '

On May 23, Wang Juntao and Chen Ziming, acting in league together, summoned the leaders -
of the "Command Headquarters of Tiananmen Square,” the "Beijing Students Autonomous
Federation,” the "Beijing Workers Autonomous Federation," the "Beijing Citizens Aatonomous Union,"
the "Citizens Dare-to-Die Squad,” and other illegal organizations and more than 30 so-called elite
individuals to gather at the Marxism-Leninism Institute of the Chinese Academy of Social Sciences and
there founded the "Patriotic Joint Liaison Group of All Circles in the Capital for Protecting the
Constitution" (hereinafter referred to as the "Protect the Constitution Group").

The meeting schemingly resolved to rename the "Command Headquarters of Tiananmen
Square” as the "Command Headquarters for the Protection of Tiananmen Square,” and appointed a
"General Commander of the Command Headquarters,” and also heads of a "General Staff Office,” a
"Liaison Department,” a "Propaganda Department” and a "General Picket Headquarters." Zhang Lun
(currently on the run), after assuming leadership of the "General Picket Headquarters,” immediately
convened a meeting of the leaders of the "Students Picket Squad,” the "Workers Picket Squad,” the
“Citizen’s Picket Squad,” and the "Citizens Dare-to-Die Squad" in order to establish a division of labor,
create contact code names, and pinpoint the location of troops on a map of the Beijing' Municipality.
After the meeting a "United Picket Headquarters” was established on Tiananmen Square and members
were issued walkie-talkies and binoculars in order to help them in their conspiracy to block the
movements of martial law troops. :

On May 24, following a decision by the "Protect the Constitution Group,” Wang Dan
(prosecuted separately) convened and presided over, in accordance with procedures formulated by
Wang Juntao, an oath-taking rally for the inauguration of the "Command Headquarters for the
Protection of Tiananmen Square,” [thus] continuing the illegal occupation of Tiananmen Square in
direct contravention of martial law decrees. :

1 Ikui cha - see defense lawyer'’s comments, below.
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: ‘On May 25, Wang juntao attended a meeting of the *Protect the Constitution Group at the
‘Marxism-Leninism Institute of the Chinese Academy of Social Sciences and participated in a plot,
hatched at the meeting, to instigate the masses to erect barricades, obstruct army vehicles and take to
 the streets in’ “public demonstrations. The following day f the "Protect the Constitution Group” and
‘more than 10 other illegal orgamzanons issued an "Urgent Appeal" calling upon the masses to prevent
~ the martial law t.roops from entering the cxty and to conduct "large-scale. demonstrauons in protest /
agamst the xmposmon of mamal law." - , :

On May 27, at the Polmcs lnsutute of the Chmese Academy of Soc:al Scnences, Wang ]untao
" convened a meeting of the "Protect the Constitution Group and schemed to concoct a "10 Point
Declaration of the Joint Liaison Group of All Circles in the Capital.” This "declaration” slanderously
referred to the State Council’s promulgation of the martial law decrees as being "a fascist-terrorist
means of sabotagxng democracy and the rule of law,” and it instigated the masses to request "an
emergency meeting of the National People s Congress" in order to discuss dismissing the pnmc
mlmster At a press | conference that evenmg, Wang Dan publu:ly rcad out this 'declaranon

At the end of May and the begmnmg of june. Wang Juntao continued to use the mam]c of the
"Protect the Constitution Group" to establish so-called "People’s Spokespersons,” to set up the "All- -
China Autonomous Students Federation" to initiate the so-called "Campus Democracy Movement," and
to plot and organize the "rescue” of Yi Jingyao, a criminal.  He also supported Liu Xiaobo (prosecuted

separately) and three others in their hunger stnkc in Tlananmen Square and other subversxve
activities.

At the end of May and beginning of June, Wang Juntao, Chen Ziming and others secretly
conspired to set up places where they could go into hiding; discussed and decided upon name lists of
those who were to be transferred and withdrawn; forged workplace identity cards; and covertly
organized the escapes of diehard elements of the "Protect the Constitution Group." On June 6, Wang
Juntao ﬂed the capital. On October 20, he was captured and taken into custody.

'Theabove-menuoned facts are attested to by the witnesses’ testimony, by the written evidence

and by tape-recordings placed on file. The facts are clear, the evidence solid, complete, and sufficient
to prove the case.

Tlns ‘court is of the opinion that during the serious turmoil which took place in Beijing in
1989, Wang Juntao, in collusion with Chen Ziming, stirred up counterrevolutionary sentiment founded
the illegal *Protect the Constitution Group;" instigated, organized, devised and directed all the various
illegal organizations in the occupauon of Tiananmen Square; and resisted the unplcmentanon of the
martial law decrees with the aim of overthrowing the pcople s government. These acts constitute the
crime of plotting to subvert the government and the crime of counterrevolutionary propaganda and
mcxtement, and must be punished accordmg to the law.

In order to uphold the political authonty of the people’s democratic dnctatorshnp and the
socialist system and to crush the destructive activities of counterrevolutionary elements, this court
renders, on the basis of the facts of defendant Wang Juntao’s criminal acts, the nature and
circumstances of his crimes, and the degree of harm thereby caused to society, and in accordance with
Article 92, Article 102, Article 52 and Article 64 of the Criminal Law of the People’s Repubhc of
China, the followmg _]udgcmcnt

For the crime of conspmng to subvert the government, defendant Wang Juntao is sentenced _
to a fixed-term penod of 13 years imprisonment, with three years’ subsequent depnvauon of polmcal
rights. For the crime of carrying out counterrevoluuonary propaganda and mcnemcnt, heis

. The Case of Wang ]untao 8 : News From Asia Watch



. sentenced to a fixed-term period of two years’ imprisonment, with one year’s subsequent deprivation
of political rights. ‘It is hereby decided that he will serve a total fixed-term period of 13 years'
-imprisonment (the period of imprisonment to be calculated starting from the date of this judgement’s
execution, and with a one-day reduction of sentence for each day spent in custody prior to execution
of the judgement, that is from October 20, 1989 until October 19, 2002), with four years’ subsequent
deprivation of political rights. TR RS T R

_ If he does not submit to this judgement, [the defendant] may; within a ten-day period starting
. from the day following the receipt of the judgement, lodge with this court a petition, plus one
. duplicate copy, as an appeal to the Beijing High People’s Court.

Chief Judge ~ Li Guogiang
- Judge . . . Zhen Kai
_ Acting Judge Zhang Xianxu

(Seal of the Beijing Intermediate People’s Court)

February 12, 1991

This copy has been checked
against the original and
contains no error.

Clerk Wang Yisheng

February 12, 1991
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' THE CASE OF WANG JUNTAO

See CHARGED WITH "SUBVERSIQN AND INCITEMENT"

THE DEFENSE

Your Honor,
I would like first of all to speak about severalbasic facts alleged in the indictment.

In listing. the charges against the defendant Wang Juntao, the mdxctmcnt begms by descnbmg
the extremely important background, i.e., the disturbances which took place in Beijing in April 1989.
Having mentioned that background the indictment immediately goes on to charge Wang Juntao with
having participated in a meeting held on April 23 and having spokcn in concert with Chen Ziming.
This amounts to claiming that the April 23 meeting was convened in Beijing to coincide with the
*April disturbances” as its background. But that does not accord with the actual facts.

The theme of the Aprll 23 meeting was to "make an evaluation of the past decade and an
appraisal of the present situation." That was a subject for discussion scheduled as early as 1988 by the
Beijing Socio-Economic Science Institute with which the defendant Wang Juntao was affiliated.
Accordmg to the minutes of the April 23 meeting transcribed from-tape recordings made by the public
security depart.mcnt which now appear as volume 18 in the files of the present case, Min Qx, who
chaired that meeting, declared at the outset that "preparations for this meeting have been going on for
some 20 days and more. It can be said that it has nothing to do with the student demonstrations.”
Accordmgly, the actual preparations for the discussion of that subject scheduled as early as the
previous year could not have started later than the end of March. The indictment now arbitrarily
links the April 23 meeting, which was prepared in'March, wn.h the "Beijing disturbances” which began
in mid-April. That seems rather farfetched.

According to the charges set forth in the indictment, the defendant Wang Juntao, together
with Chen Ziming, made a series of remarks and spoke in concert about "speeding up the process of
getting the intellectuals organized” and const.mmng a new kind of guiding force for the common
people.” There are two problems with this. - :

First, to claim that Wang and Chen spoke in concert undoubtedly means that Chen made a
call first and then Wang echoed him. That allegatlon is intended to show that this type of logical
relationship should reflect the internal connection between the call and the echo. That sequence
cannot be reversed. But a careful reading of all the speeches made at the April 23 meeting as
recorded in volume 18 of the files, shows that Chen Ziming’s "call" as alleged in the indictment, took
place after Wang Juntao’s "echo,” as alleged in the indictment. Therefore, there is no "internal
connection” between the two as the indictment intends to establish. The charge that the two men had
spoken in concert is untenable. They can only be held responsible respectively for their own remarks.

Second, and this is especially important, the passages quoted in the indictment from the above-
mentioned speech made by Chen Ziming are quite incomplete. As Wang Juntao’s defense attorney, it
is really not necessary for me to comment or even touch on Chen Ziming's words and deeds. It is only
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in vicw of the fact that the indictment takes them as the precondition of Wang Juntao’s remarks that I
have no choice but to straighten things out.

That part of Chen Ziming’s speech quoted in the indictment should read as follows, according
~to the transcript made by the public security department from the tapes: :

- "I fecl that this assigns a task to the intelligentsia. In the course of the race, whether you can
speed up the reconstruction of the cultural superstructure, whether you can speed up the process of -
getting the intellectuals organized, whether it is possible to speed up your interaction with the
government, whether you can extricate yourself from the grumblings and dissatisfaction of the

- common people as quickly as possible, so as to constitute a new kind of guiding force for the common

people, instead of simply following their feclings. I feel this is an epochal task facing the advanced
elements of the intelligentsia.” :

~ Your honor, the passage I have just read 6t')tiéiously mcané_. @methin_g ditferen;;ﬁ'oin that
quoted in the indictment. As for the significance of this difference, I trust that it is clear to. the court.
So I shall not claborate : . -

I will now turn to the truthfulness, or the lack thereof, of the allegations about Wang Juntao’s
remarks. Seven sentences have been taken from those remarks; these have been linked together to
mean two things. First, it is alleged that Wang Juntao was saying that the socialist civilization and its
model were outmoded, inferior to other models, that it should therefore be changed so as to return to
the so-called "dominant civilization". Second, he is alleged to have said that the present government
and its leaders would be succeeded by another generation for lack of basic support, and that the
*political old man" who had been able to stabilize the situation would depart from the scene, so this
could be called a moment filled with opportunities. This is the way I would sum up those seven
sentences cited in the indictment. I would like to speak about two problems. First, Wang Juntao’s
remarks about “civilization" and its models basically represent an elaboration of his personal academic
view and fall outside the scope of the "facts to be ascertained.” I shall not argue about this for the time
being. As for the second shade of meaning, i.e., the second problem, I think it is appropriate to check
them against Wang's own words. What Wang actually said was:

"The political old man (meaning [Deng] Xiaoping)...has set up a structure at the top, a
structure in which all the forces are quite mature and stable...With (Xiaoping) on the scene, that
structure can be maintained. Once old Deng leaves the scene, a new round of power struggle will
ensue.” : )

Wang went on to say:

'T'hls would be a time when there would be a surge in social thinking. Viewed from that
angle, China now faces a threshold; there is also an opportunity, a moment filled with opportunities..."

What Wang Juntao was saying was that "China" faced opportunities, i.e., a threshold. How can
you omit the subject (China), and substitute for it Wang himself and his colleagues? Immediately
following that, Wang said: "Putting it in a larger historical context, I feel there are three clues to
understanding the present epoch in China,” and the last of these clues is the collision, clash and
merging of different human civilizations "to form a new pattern of development of civilization in
China." g

That passage is recorded on page 16, volume 18 of the files. I request that the court examirfe
it. From the remarks cited above, one could comprehend that to charge Wang Juntao with the crime
of "shaping public opinion...and conspiring to subvert the government® does not accord with the facts.
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“Therefore, that charge is hardly tenable.

As an attorney, however, I must truthfully point out that however great the gap between the
quotations cited in the indictment and what I have just read may be, I take note of the fact that, except
in linking that meeting with the "April disturbances® and labeling Wang's remarks, the indictment has
not made any charge of substance, and has even refrained from using such prevalent derogatory words
 as "raisinga hue and cry," "disséminating," etc. That, I must say, shows that the indictment is being

~ The prosecutor, in his indictment, declares that the April 23 meeting conducted a special =
discussion ‘of the "present situation,” and that it clearly was a discussion and evaluation of the student

unrest at that time.

, That statement is untenable. The "present situation” and student unrest are two related but
different concepts. Student unrest made up but a small part of the "present situation.” It can be seen
from the main purpose of and the major speeches made at the April 23 meeting that the "present
situation” that people were talking about consisted of four aspects, namely, economic, political, social
and cultural. Isn’t that a fact? To equate a discussion of the present situation with participation in
student unrest is a cognitive mistake to say the least. ‘ R -

"~ Inshort, the first "fact” charged in the indictment is contrary to reality and the charge is
untenable. ” - ’ ‘ . - '

Now about the second fact.

The indictment charges that Wang Juntao made a speech at a forum known as "The Political
System and the Trade Union" on May 15, at a time when the students were beginning their hunger
strike and "the disturbances were spreading throughout society.” 1 also have two problems with the
passages quoted in the indictment. B ' ’

First, the passages are quoted in such a way as to depart from the original meaning. In some
places the meaning becomes quite different simply by the deletion of a pronoun or the replacement of
a conjunction. The important thing is that, having quoted the passage "even if a political party is in
fact organized or manipulated from behind the scenes,” the indictment omitted what immediately
follows, i.e., "it should be within the scope of the law. As long as it does not call on the masses to open
fire or to overthrow something, it would be all right.” That most important point was cut out. This is
undoubtedly quoting the defendant out of context with the intention of trumping up a charge.

Second, even if we take the passages quoted in the indictment at their face value, it seems
unwarranted to conclude that the defendant was "shaping public opinion and conspiring to subvert the
government.” ' ‘ o o

Three conclusions can be drawn from the above: 1) the charges brought in that section are
untrue in some places; 2) the allegation that the defendant tried to subvert the government is very far
from reality; and 3) since the speech was made in public, I do not think it can constitute a "conspiracy.”

We now come to the third fact.

This fact, as alleged in the indictment, may be summed up as the following three main points:
1) that Wang Juntao et al. plotted in'secret to establish an illegal organization; 2) that Wang Juntao -
proposed to side with the students and influence the course of the student unrest; and 3) that with the
consent of Wang Juntao, Bao Zunxin read out the counterrevolutionary "Declaration of May 17" which
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clamors to bury the dlCtatO!’Shlp and monarchy” and "secretly consplres to overthrow Deng

Havmg studted this part of the allegauon, what seems mexphcable is that, unhke the two
foregomg allegations, the indictment totally avoids mentioning the historical background "of the
moment” when bringing those three-point charges. ' Yet that background is of the utmost importance.
At that time, the United Front Department of the Central Committee of the Chinese Communist Party
and its leader Yan Mmgfu sent Zheng Yefu and others to invite Wang Juntao et al. to get involved
immediately in the disturbance and setve as a bridge between the students and the: government in

_order to persuade the students to leave the square so that the visiting Gorbachev could be properly

* welcomed, and then to go one step further to calm the disturbance down. The tremendous
significance of that background lies in that it was precisely at the suggestion of hlgh-lcvel officials of
the Party that Wang Juntao et al. changed their posturc from non-involvement in the past to -
- involvement -- they were "pushed to the center stage,” in the words of Chen Zeming. From that point
- on, they began to consider ways to "influence the students through..speeches.” For that purpose, they
considered it necessary to go among the students, to "side with the students,” so as to “influence the
course (of the student unrest)." To achieve that aim, they came upon the idea of setting up a "Social
Consultation Committee.” From all this, we have reason to believe that it was a lirie of thmkmg, :
pracucal plan desxgned to fulfill the task assigned to them by the party. Now all this is construed as
"secret conspiracy” and so on and so forth. This flies in the face of historical reality. ‘~

What then was the reality at the ume? There are witnesses and testimonies in the files of thls
case that show that Wang Juntao, in the three days of meetings from May 17 to May 19, had declared
on more than one occasion that their meetings and discussions were "brief meetings” and "not an
orgammuon " "All pamcxpams are here as individuals...and we do not engage in liaison between
units." He also made it unequivocally clear that the purpose of the meetings was to exchange
information and views, to solve problems.” "Solving problems" meant primarily reaching a
compromise between the students and the government, and the key to that was for the students
speedily to leave the square. For that reason, it was decided that the means of solving the problem
was through "social consultation.” Those testimonies, together with Wang Juntao’s remarks at those
mecungs and statements made at today’s court hearing coincide and are credible.

It is true, the core issue here is the fact that Bao Zunxin did read out the "Declaration of May
17." The nature of Bao Zunxin and the "Declaration of May 17" cooked up by him has already been
determined in another case. I shall not go into it. What is relevant to the present case is the -
following: 1) Bao attended the May 18 meetin. § by accident. He came in the middle of discussions,
signed his name and left; that may be proven.” 2) Bao's "Declaration of May 17" was drawn up earlier
together with Yan Mingfu. Wang Juntao knew nothing about it beforehand. 3) Bao's so-called "read
out” was essentially a form of contribution to the discussions. ‘As moderator of the meeting, Wang
Juntao had no reason to bar Bao from making his remarks, as Wang could not have known what Bao
was going to say. 4) Total responsibility for the contents of the reading should not be borne by the
moderator of the meeting, who allowed Bao to speak as he did not know the contents of that speech
beforehand. 5) Wang Juntao dxsagrecd with some of the views, some key issues, especially the attitude
toward Comrade Xiaoping, expressed in that declaration. Please allow me to point out emphatically
the followmg fact: Wang’s stand of supporting Deng has been consistent throughout the past decade.
This is fully born out by the fact that even though Bao collected signatures at the meetmg, there is no
evidence in the files to show that Wang Juntao signed it. On the contrary, the written testimonies that
we have submitted to the court today precisely prove that Wang Juntao did not sign the declaration
because he had thought the matter over. As for the allegation in the indictment that the meeting
conspired to "raise the banner of overthrowing Deng,” that was limited to some individuals who put

“¥The Chinese (Ke Zheng) is ambiguous.
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forward that reacuonary slogan -But no one in his remarks responded to it, much less conspired. In
" accordance with the principle in the criminal code which stipulates that criminal responsnblllty must be
born by the perpetrator himself;:1 believe the facts show that Wang Juntao, the defendant in this case,
'should not be: held respons1ble for a crime committed by some one else, no matter how serious the . -

maticr may be. | What is more, the "fact” alleged in the mdnctment is too far from objecnve reallty and |
,should not be allowed to stand! - : e : : R Y ;

B | have offered my defense arguments above thh regard to: t.he thlrd fact. I now turn to the
fourth fact. - - e Y . ; : e :

The fourth ﬁct alleged in Lhe mdxctment goes lxke tlus Wang juntao mustered Lm Gang and
others, in the early hours of May 21, and drove to the crossing of Erhuan and Sanhuan Roads (No 2
and No. 8. ng Roads) to "spy-on"” the blockmg of martial law troops s

The problem 1 ‘would hke to pomt out is that. in descnbnng the act of bloclung, the subject is
lmssmg Who was there doing the blocking? True, since the defendant is accused of "spying,” the -
question of who did the blocking seems ummportant. Obvnously, if it were Wang’s own people who
did the blocking, Wang juntao would be there to "inspect” the situation, and there would absolutely be
no need for him to "spy." If it were the students and some city residents doing the blocking, there
were such huge crowds that one look at them would be sufficient, and there would also be no need to
"spy." Accordmg to the usual meamng in the Chinese language and our own: linguistic customs, the
term "spy" implies. secretly peeping at the activities of the other side. We then have to ask, who was.
the other side? And again, if those who did the blocking were Wang'’s opponents, wouldn’t that show

Wang Juntao to be on the same side with the blocked troops? - If that were the case, how can it be.
considered an offense? : :

The above. analysns is after all not as dnrectly convincing as the fact itself. And the fact at that
time, according to the testimonies in the files, was that out of their concern over the situation, Wang
et al. did not go to sleep in the deep of night instead drove along the streets. It may be all right to
attack them as "brazen." But their aim was simply to observe the hearts and minds of the troops as
well as those of the people. Their concern was obviously shared by many people. To determine its
nature as- resxstmg the implementation of martial law" would consitute the error of implicating too

many people in violation of the party and government polxcy on that matter. And to reach a verdict
on that basis would have no legal justification.

Let me now turn to the fifth fact alleged in the indictment, i.e., Wang Juhtao, in league with
Chen Ziming, founded an illegal organization "The Patriotic Joint: Conference of All Circles in the
Capital to Uphold the Constitution.”" With regard to this alleganon, we would like to make five points:

(1) At the May 23 meeting which founded the 'Conference to Uphold the Consnmtnon, Wang
Juntao repeatedly made it clear that it was a “joint conference, not an organization." Not only did
Wang confess to that effect in the past, he also made similar statements dunng court inquiries. In
addition, Bao Zunxin also testified to this. These matters can be found in volume 5 of the files. I
request that the court examine them. .

) Accordmg to Liu Suli’s testimony made on two occasions, the pnmary funcnon of the
*Conference to Uphold the Constitution” was to put forward topics for discussion, to organize .
discussions, make proposals and coordinate the various groups. According to Liu, its function was to
coordinate the activities of "Tiananmen Square Headquarters," the "College Students Autonomous
Federation,” and the "Autonomous Federation of College Students from Outside (of Beijing)." That-
testimony was recorded respectively on pages "57 of volume 6 and page 68 of volume 21 of the files. It
tallies with Wang Juntao’s confessions and is therefore credible.
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© (8) For *Tiananmen Square Headquartem, coordlnatlon means only the right to make .
suggesuons and not decision-making powers." Wang Juntao so "confessed” and Bao Zunxin so testified
(for testimony see page 56 of volume 21 of the files). That should qualify as legal evidence.
fore the establishment of offices in chargc of staff, liaison, propaganda, etc. was, in the final
alysis, the work of the Tiananmen Square Headquarters. From this it follows that the ' ference
to Uphold the Constmmon cannot be held responsible and still less can the defendant ‘Wang Juntao
be held responslble as a member of that conference - even though an. unportant member - 'be held -
responsible for the activities of "Tiananmen Square Headquarters and its 'Pncket Command .

@A study of the indictment shows that it charges Wang juntao with foundmg the
"Conference to Upbold the Constitution” and that it considers that a very 1mportant crime. If so, we
cannot help but ask: Who proposed the foundmg of that dlegal organization? Who did what in the
planning before it was formally founded? What were its worlung principles and operauonal rules? -
Who named its pnncnpal officer and who was actually named? ~

It is true that the Prosecutor has sand that Wang Dan was convenor of that dlcgal organxmuon,
and that he was named by Wang juntao, the defendant in this case. :

- But my quesuons as stated above have not been answered. The reason is simple: How can
one mix up a "convenor” with a prmcnpal officer"? If the "Conference to Uphold the Constitution”
only had a convenor and no principal officer, that fact exactly, though obhquely, bears out Wang
Juntao’s argument that i 1t was a "conference" and not an organuauon

I must add that i it would be very dlfﬁcult to live up to the pnncnple of holding only the
perpetrator rcsponslble for his or her own crime if no mvesugauon is made in answer to my question,
if concrete analysis is lacking so that it is impossible to ascertain people’s positions, thereby
ascertaining their actxons and responsnbnlmes

(5) Finally, it should be pointed out that the allegation made in the indictment that Wang
wanted the students to “continue to occupy Tiananmen Square illegally" has absolutely nothing to do
with Wang Juntao in any of his activities. From the very beginning, Wang Juntao energetically
advocated to get the students to leave the square early. The files contain a huge number of :
testimonies to that effect. He regretted then that he failed to persuade the students. But that end
result could only be described as "ineffective mediation," failure to fulfill the task assigned him by the
responsible officials of the United Front Department, and can in no way be construed as “resisting the
implementation of marnal law as alleged in the indictment.

Al thcse arguments ‘in a nutshell, show that the indictment tries to charge Wang juntao ‘with

being the instigator of the, "April disturbances in Beijing" and the "black hand.” But it has failed to
provide credible, rchable evidence. '

The indictment alleges the following fact: Wang Juntao planned and concocted the "Ten-Pomt |
Statement of the Joxnt Conference of All Circles in the Capital Concerning the Current Situation" at
the May 27 meeting of the "Conference to Uphold the Constltunon

Twould like to draw the attention of the court to two points:

(1) The "Ten-Point Statement” was planned and drawn up by Gan Yang and Lao Mu before

May 27. Wang Juntao had no part in it. Therefore, Wang had nothing to do with the planmng and
concocting of the statement. The allegation is untenable.

(2) The finalization, printing and distribution of the "Ten-Point Statement" should be

The Case of Wang Juntao 15 News From Asia Watch



considered a collective act on the part of the "Conference to Uphold. the Constltutlon, and Wang

juntao, who knew nothmg about it beforehand should not be held fully responsxble for t.hat act.

Itis necessary to pomt out emphaueally here that the reason why Wang juntao did not oppose
the "Ten-Point Statement” was pnmanly because the enghth point originally contained a demand that
the students leave the square within a time limit. It was due to factors beyond Wang juntao s rsonal
control that this demand was not included and the statement ﬁnally became a mere scrap of paper.
There is evidence to  pr '\je all this. Since this obvrously has an 1mportant bearmg on the hugauon of
the present case, your wise consideration is requested .

The indictment also’ charges Wang Juntao wrth concoctlu ‘and dnstnbunng the handbnll "An

Appeal to the People,” thus engaging in counterrevoluttonary propaganda and incitement." Wxth
regard to that charge, we oﬂ'er our three-point defense ' :

Fxrst, Wang Juntao was not among thios¢who concocted *An Appeal to the People.” Accordmg
to the testimony of Zhou Tuo, he wrote "An Appeal to the People” in consultation with Chen Ziming.
He drew up the first draft and handed it over to Chen Zmnng Wang was not present Chen Zlmtng s

testimony bears this out.

Second, Wang Juntao did not take part in the distribution of "An Appeal to the People The
fact was that Wang got the use of a car to go to Tiananmen. Liu Gang went with him. Liu got ¢ off
with a package of handbills. He gave them to the students when he got to the Museum of History. |
Wang Juntao did not leave the car when Liu Gang either received or handed out the handbills, and he
was unaware of the content of those handbills. Zhang Kejian, who printed the handbills, and Zheng
Di, who rode in the same car with Wang Juntao and Liu Gang testified to this respectively. That isto .
say, our judgement is well-founded and tallies with the facts.

Third, according to the testimonies of Chen Ziming and Zhou Tou (see page 15 of volume 21
and page 88 of volume 8 respectively) the meeting of May 19, which had something to do with "An
Appcﬂ to the People,” was chaired by Chen Ziming. Wang was not there at all during the morning
session. He attended the afternoon session. This detail undoubtedly serves to show Wang's role and
responsnblhty in the matter. The indictment resorts to such vague expressnons as "taking part

in...concocting™ and "distributing...together with" in order to incriminate the defendant. It errs on the
side of arbm'anness

" We have analyzed the basic facts alleged in the indictment and offered our defense arguments
as the above. The prosecutor argues that "in view of the past words and deeds of the defendant” one
can tell that the charges are valid. This is unconvincing. Is there a time limit to the so-called "past"?

In accordance with the prosecutor’s line of thinking, we divide the "past” into two periods. One of
these was the period closely linked with the student unrest. - I would like to cite two of Wang Juntao’s
articles. The first one, "Rebuild the Civilization Model" was published on May 14, 1989 in "Economics
Weekly" and the second was "Written on the Fifth Day of the Hunger Strike." In those "past words
and deeds,” Wang Juntao formulated his political stand ?thmkmg and vlewpomt most clearly. They
had nothing in common with the so-called "subversion" or "incitement." The second period was
around 1988, when Wang wrote many articles and most were also published in "Economics Weekly."
The conslstcncy of his principal viewpoint can be clearly seen. Now that the prosecutor has elevated
his " past as the source of criminality, I, as the defense attorney, also hope that the court would
examine his past. Our point of departure is that one conclusion can be drawn from the "past’, i.c., the
defendant’s past words and deeds, fundamentally spealung, did not pose any danger to society. This is
undoubtedly rather important to reaching a verdict.
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As for the other issues touched on in the indictment, such as “establishing a spokespetson for
the people,” "supporting Liu Xiaobo’s hunger strike," etc., these are cither irrelevant to the charge of

subvemng the government" or obviously unrelated to Wang juntao We shall not offer a defense for
the time being. : _ -

To sum up the points made above, it can be said that we have offered a comprehensnve
defense with rcgard to several facts. These arguments show that the indictment has not risen to the
level as claimed in its conclusion, of facts that are clearcut, and evidence that is solid and sufficient. It
is necessary to declare that this does not yet constitute our comprchenslvc evaluation of the indictment

and the prosecutor’s statement. My colleague and myself will raise other issues after havmg carefully
listened to the prosccutors rebuttal. :

A
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Ongmally, T felt it mappropnate to defend views in court that I was not responsnble for in "the :

movement." ‘As you know, 1 did not approve of many of the movemem:s met.hods and could hardly .
agree with all of its convoluted messages.

But I feel sad when I see that so many leaders and sponsors of the movement, when facing the
consequences, dare not shoulder their responsnbnhty They will certainly suffer less themselves as a
- result, but what about the dead? :

The dead are unable to defend themselves. Many of them xntended to fight for China and her

people, for truth and justice. I decided to take my chances to defend some of their points, even if I did
not agree with all of them at the time.

I know that my penalty was more serious because of this action. But only by doing so can the
dead rest in peace, since on the soil where they shed blood there are still some compatriots who take
risks and speak out from a sense of justice in the most difficult circumstances.

The spirit that unifies the Chinese nation, a phrase often invoked in the empty talk of heavy-
jowled and pot-bellled politicians, really means much more respect, understanding, trust, love among
the compatriots with flesh-and-blood relations, as well as the sincere memory of the living toward the
dead. Please bear with me on this, the two of you, since this is certainly unfavorable to my defense.

I do not wish to see China loaded with the weight of 1989. I often tell Xiaotian (Wang
Juntao’s wife) to look beyond her personal feelings. In this country, a little unrest can cause ruin,
starvation and disease for hundreds of thousands of people at the bottom of soc1ety, where the upper
levels of society cannot feel it.

The soil under our feet has been unsteady for a long time. When we pursue justice, we need
to think of the interests of common people. Though I am only 32, I have been trying to observe the
- world objectively. The trial has brought me a sort of relief and consoling. I once again have a clear
conscience. Yet thinking of the dead, I am still ashamed.

I had another motive speaking as I did, that is, defending the basic principles of our nation.
The legitimate rights of citizens must be protected, and reviving the vague charge of attacking the
republic (a charge commonly used during the Cultural Revolution) cannot be allowed. So I got angry
when the public prosecutor accused me of being counterrevolutionary by opposing leaders. A defense
should not be limited to saying "I do not oppose leaders? but should allow for the legitimate right to
oppose leaders.

Yet what I am most concerned about is the loss of spirit and morality of our nation. I was
surprised by much of the testimony that was given. I do not want to get into the superiority or

5The text of the letter was edited for space.
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tnfernortty of particular people. What 1 value is whether or not a human spirit has nobrlrtyua noble
and pure soul

‘In Chma even mtellectuals lack it. As soon as polmcal pressure arrrves, “the entire
professional stratum of people freezes, their professionalism paralyzed. This is intolerable, especially
~when dealing with the law, a most sacred and solemn profession. See, after such an enormous
disturbance in 1989, how few people face trral and how even fewer are spealung their conscience.

At thrs pomt, 1: am afraid that our generauon is not as good as the one that came before it.
Political viewpoints are not the most rmportant thing; they can easily change.. What I value most is a
sincere and persevenng spirit: The rise and decline, the honor or dlsgrace of a natton are tied to it. -

‘Sol hope t.he Chlnese people, especnally the mtellectuals dommatmg the realms of culture and
» knowledge, will improve. I respect our elder generation very much--it is ironic that today I faced a
sentencing from them. They had more devotioft and tletermmauon in their ume than we have in
ours. They also have less tolerance and lundness :

I wrll not yet come to any conclusxons about old Deng or LI Peng What I want to safeguard

are prmctples and conscience:" If there is something to be sad or upset about today, it is the troubled
spirit of our generation.

I am very grateful for your outstanding defense of me. My impulses may have adversely
affected the outcome. Iam sorry. Xiaotian said she hopes that you two will be entrusted with the

appeal of my case. I would prefer it. Itrust you. Please decide on my behalf whether or not to
appeal and how. . :

I don’t feel too well today, I was dizzy and unable to keep up with the (court) proceedings. I
have tried to appear strong, since I was facing the camera--not just for personal reasons but for
historical ones as well.

I have one more demand. Please help me console Xtaotlan ‘Help her calm down and not
make unnecessary trouble, to say nothing of violating the law. She should remain in control of
herself. 1 have been trying to act conscientiously and calmly, suppressing personal feelings. She
should do the same. Dear sirs, I have no one else to write to and trust. Please excuse me for making
such demands of you. Iam very sorry. ‘

Thank you once again! Wishing you a happy spring festival.

Wang juntao -
February 12, 1991.

February 20, 1991
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ON HER HUSBAND’S CONVICTION

TO FRIENDS CONCERNED WITH CHINA'S DEMOGRATIC FROCESS

Onr governmem has made many xmstakes, such as the tnals of Wang jumao and other
innocent intellectuals. Wang Juntao has decided to appeal his case; he refuses to accept the verdict of
the first trial. 1 hope that our government would correct its mistakes, avoid further mxstakes and
judge Wang Juntao and other innocent mtellectuals correctly and fau'ly .-

I hope that all the Judncral pcrsonnel who work for the governmem. would handle June
l-‘ourth" and the democracy advocates responslbly. with their fair Judgement and conscnence

N No matter how many years Wang Juntao gets, I am convmced the verdnct is wrong Hlstory
will prove my point.

I received the court verdict yesterday. Wang Juntao received his the day before (t.he 13th)
We only have the last three days to appeal. It is very urgent.

China needs talent. ‘Butit is also very good at persecuting talented people Talent is the
foremost factor in China’s progress. I cannot understand why the authorities act this way.

There are many things that I want to do, not just for my husband, but also for all i innocent
intellectuals. I shall work within the limits permrtted by law. Therefore, I need not consider my own

safety. I hope that all friends and progressive governments concerned with China’s democratic process
would give me assistance and support.

- Hou Xiaotian
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GUANGZHOU MUNICIPAL PEOPLE'S PROCURATORATE
'BILL OF PROSECUTION
Doc. Zongjian xingqizi (1991)No 68

The defendant Luo Haixing is male, 42 years of age, Han nationality, a native of Guilin city in
Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region, currently residing at 42D Broadway Street, 7th Floor, Mei Fu
Sun Chuen, Kowloon, Hong Kong. On December 18, 1989, this Procuratorate authorized his arrest
and on December 18 of the same year, he was arrested. ‘ '

The defendant Li Peicheng is male, 85 years of age, Han nationality, a native of Dongwan
City in Guangdong Province, a high school graduate, a worker, currently residing at 427 Shanghai
Street, 4th Floor, Kowloon, Hong Kong. On December 16, 1989, this Procuratorate authorized his
arrest and on December 18 of the same year, he was arrested.

- The defendant Li Longquing is male, 33 years of age, Han nationality, a native of Xinhui
County in Guangdong Province, a junior high school graduate, a worker, currently residing at
Building 19, Room No. 1023, Lantian Chuen, Kowloon, Hong Kong. On January 25, 1990, this
Procuratorate authorized his arrest, and on February 12 of the same year he was arrested.

The Public Security Bureau of Guangzhou has completed its investigation of the case in which
the defendants Luo Haixing, Li Peicheng and Li Longqing all harbored criminal elements, and that Li
Peicheng and Li Longging organized and transported other persons to cross national borders secretly,
and on January 9, 1991 according to law, it moved this Procuratorate to review and prosecute.
Investigations have already shown the following:

On the afternoon of September 9, 1989, the defendants Luo Haixing and Fei Yuan, formerly
in charge of the Beijing Economic Weekly, met in the Baiyun Hotel in Guangzhou, where the two
parties conspired to assist Wang Juntao, Chen Ziming and other counterrevolutionary rebels wanted
by the Ministry of Public Security in escaping abroad and secking foreign contacts. The evening of
the same day, the defendant Luo Haixing returned to Hong Kong, where he gave to [Shan] jianxune,

6John Sham Kin-fun
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the standing committee chairman of the "Hong Kong Support Un‘ion,"7 the list provided by Fei Yuan
of the names of those wishing to escape abroad and their hiding places. On October 6 of that same
year, after the defendant Luo Haixing received the notice that [Shan] Jianxun would soon send
someone to Zhanjiang to assist wanted criminals to escape abroad, he immediately contacted Fei Yuan.
On the afternoon of October 8, after the defendant Luo Haixing learned of the specific hiding place,
false names and secret password of Mr. and Mrs. Chen Ziming, from Fei Yuan, he returned to Hong -
~ Kong to transfer the information to [Shan] Jianxun. On October 13, the defendant Li Peicheng
received a commission from the "Hong Kong Support Union" to go to Zhanjiang City to prepare to
take Mr. and Mrs. Chen Ziming to the Taiping Township of Dongwan City for their escape abroad,
and was seized by our public security organ. T S TR

. At the end of July 1989, when the defendants Li Peicheng and Li Longquing were retained by
Chen Dagian and Chen Dazheng of the Hong Kong Yide Foreign Wine Company, they joined in
returning secretly to the interior to assist Zeng Shen and the rebels in escaping abroad. From July
1989 to the end of October, the defendants Li Pelcheng and Li Longging altogether made five
separate secret trips back to Guangzhou City, Huaxian County, Changsha City, Lanzhou City and
elsewhere, meeting separately with 17 persons who were conspiring to be smuggled out of the country,
hiding the majority of them in groups at a time inside a house rented by the defendant Li Peicheng at
No. 2, Alley No. 7, Chaoyang, Shipai Village, Tianhe District of this city, and then again separately
transferred them to elements specializing in the transport of persons to be smuggled abroad. Among
the escaped persons who were transported were Wang Runsheng, Yuan Zhiming and other elements
of the Beijing counterrevolutionary rebellion wanted by our Ministry of Public Security. The
defendant Li Peicheng profited from breaking the law in the amount of HK $20,000, and the
defendant Li Longqing profited from breaking the law in the amount of HK $ 23,000.

The documents, pieces of evidence, witnesses, testimony and other evidence collected confirm
the foregoing facts. The three defendants have already separately confessed in their cases.

The defendants Luo Haixing, Li Peicheng, and Li Longqing disregarded the national laws,
harbored criminals, and made contacts and assisted people so that criminal elements could escape
abroad and evade legal sanctions, their conduct violating the provisions of Article 162 of the Criminal
Law of the People’s Republic of China®, and constituting the crime of harboring criminals. The
defendants Li Peicheng and Li Longging, for the purpose of reaping profits, participated several times
in organizing and transporting other persons to cross the border secretly, their conduct together
violating the provisions of Article 177 of the Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of China?, and
constituting the crime of organizing and transporting other persons secretly to cross the border. In
order to demonstrate the seriousness of the nation's laws, to safeguard social administration and order,

» "The Hong Kong Alliance in Support of the Patriotic Democratic Movement in China, a group formed to sﬁpport :
the 1989 democracy movement which has been labeled "subversive” by Beijing. ,

8Article 162 provides for a sentence of between three and ten years fixed-term imprisonment for the crime of
harboring counterrevolutionary elements or giving false proof to protect them "when the circumstances are serious.”

9Article 177 providesa maximum five years terms of imprisonment for the crime of organizing or transportating
other persons to cross the national border secrely.
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ensure the smooth progress of the cause of socialist construction, in accordance with the provisions of
Article 100 of the Criminal Procedure Law of the People’s Republic of Chma We specnﬁcally
~ bring this bill of prosecution, and request judgment according to law -

Present’ed» to: The Guangzhou City Intermediate Pcdple’s Courtof Guangdong Province

Deputy Procurator Cai Xin

January 12, 1991

£

Annex 1: The defendants Luo Halxlng. Li Pelcheng and L: Longqmg are currem]y being held at
' Guangzhou Public Security Bureau No. 1 Place of Detention;

~ Annex 2: ' The_compiete materials of the case file form six volumes.

10prticle 100 provides that "where a people s procuratorate considers that the facts of the defendant’s crime have
already been clarified, that the evidence is reliable and complete and that according to law criminal responsxbxhty
should be mvesugated it shall make a decision to prosecute and initiate a pubhc prosecution in a people’s court”.
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S - AND LI LONGQUING *

BY THE GUANGZHOU MUNICIPAL INTERMEDIATE

- PEOPLE’S COURT, GUANGDONG PROVINCE
" Doc. Suifaxingyizi no. 58 (1991)

Public prosecutor: - Cai Xin, deputy procurator of the Guangzhou People’s Procuratorate.

Defendant: Luo Haixing, male, 42 years, of age, Han nationality, a native of Guilin City of Guanxi
Zhuang Autonomous Region, a university graduate and businessman, currently residing at 42 D
Broadway Street, 7th floor, Mei Fu Sun Chuen, Kowloon, Hong Kong. He was arrested on December
18, 1989 and is now being held in custody.

Defenders: Kang Shu, Lian Hongjie, lawyers of the Guangzhou No. 2 Foreign Economic Law Office.

Defendant: Li Peicheng, male, 34 years of age, Han nationality, a native of Dongwan City of
Guangdong Province, a high school graduate and worker, currently residing at 427 Shanghai Street,

4th Floor, Kowloon, Hong Kong. He was arrested on December 18, 1989 and is now being held in
custody.

Defender: Zhuang Weiyan, lawyer of the Guangdong Guangming Law Office.

Defendant: Li Longqmg male, 32 years of age, Han nationality, a native of Xinhui County of
Guangdong Province, a junior high school graduate, currently residing at Building 19, Room 1023,

Lantian Chuen, Kowloon, Hong Kong. He was arrestcd on February 12, 1990 and is now being held
_ in custody.

Defender: Zhang Zhengxiu, lawyer of the Guangzhou No. 2 Foreign Economic Law Office.

On February 12, 1991, the Guangzhou Municipal People’s Procuratorate initiated a public
prosecunon in this Court with respect to the case of the defendant Luo Haixing, who committed the
crime of harbormg criminal elements, and the defendants Li Peicheng and Li Longqmg, who
committed the crime of harboring criminal elements and the crime of organizing and transporting
other persons secretly to cross the national boundary. On February 26 of the same year, a public trial
was conducted by a collegial panel which was composed by this Court according to law. Cai Xin,

deputy procurator of the guangzhou People’s Procuratorate appeared in Court to support the public
prosecution. The above defendants and defenders all attended the trial.

After investigaﬁon,thc following was ascertained. On September 8, 1989, the defendant Luo
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Hamng came to Guangzhou from Hong Kong at the invitation of Fei Yuan (formerly in charge of the
Beijing Economic Weekly; his case shall be handled separately) and met Fei Yuan in the Baiyun Hotel,
wherc the two men conspired to assist in escaping abroad Chen Ziming and Wang juntao, who have
committed the crimes of plotting to subvert the government and propagating and inciting
.counterrevolution: (both have already been sentenced), and others wanted by the Ministry of Public
Security. The evening of the same day, the defendant Luo Haixing returned to Hong Kong where he
gave to [Shan] Jianxun of the "Hong Kong Support Union" the list provided by Fei Yuan of the names
of those wishing to escape abroad and requested Can's assistance. “On October 8, the defendant Luo
Haixing came to Guangzhou agam from Hong Kong at the invitation of Fei Yuan fora meeting. ' Luo
Haixing told Fei Yuan of the notice provided by [Shan] Jianxun that the "Hong Kong Support Union"
would soon send someone to Zhanjiang to assist the escapees, obtained from Fei Yuan the specific
address of Chen Ziming’s hiding place, and they jointly agreed to the false name and password for
Chen Ziming. On the same evening, Luo rushed back to Hong Kong to relay them to [Shan] Jianxun.
. On October 12, after the defendant Li Longquing obtained Chen Ziming's false name, hiding place -

and password provided by Luo Haixing from Chen Dazheng of.Yide Company, Lud. of Hong Kong, he
-stole back to’Guangzhou to give them to the defendant Li Peicheng. On the same evening, Li
immediately went to Zhanyang City by car. The next day, while Li was- meeung Chen Zlmmg at the
above address to assist Chen in his escape, Li was arrested by our pubhc secunty organ

In July 1989 the defendants, Ln Pencheng and Li- Longqmg were retained by Chen Dazheng
and Chen Dagian of Yide Company, Ltd. of Hong Kong to return to the mainland to assist in escaping
abroad those persons who had participated in the turmoil and the counterrevolutionary riots in
Beijing. ‘During the same year, from July to October, the defendants Li Peicheng and Li Longqmg
accompanied each other in sneaking back to Guangzhou City, Changsha City and Lanzhou City in the
Mainland from Hong Kong for a total of four times to meet each of 14 persons who had participated
in the turmoil, including Wang Rensheng, Yuan Zhiming, Xiang Xiaoji and Liu Weiguo, parﬁcxpants :
in the counterrevolutionary riot in Beijing, and all of whom are wanted by our public security organs.
Afterwards, they gathered the above persons in the house rented by the defendant Li Peicheng at No.
16, Shipei Chaoyang Alley No. 2 of this city, and transferred them to others to be smuggled abroad.

In addition, in September of the same year, the defendant Li Peicheng also was individually retained
by Chen Dazheng and stole back to Huaxian and Guangzhou City from Hong Kong to contact three
outlaws and transferred them to others to be smuggled abroad. The defendant Li Peicheng assisted a
total of 17 persons to secretly cross the border and obtained illegal profits in the amount of .
HK$17,300; the defendant Li Longqing assisted a total of 14 persons to secretly cross the border and
obtained illegal profits in the amount of HK$12,000.

_The above facts have been verified by obtained documentary evidence, matenal evidence and
testimony of witnesses. Three defendants have also individually confessed in the case. The evidence is
reliable, complete and sufficient to decide the case.

This Court considers the following. The defendants Luo Haixing, Li Pencheng and Li
Longqmg assisted the coumerrevoluuonary criminals wanted by our public secunty organ to escape
abroad in order to evade legal sanctions, and had therefore committed the crime of harboring
counterrevoluuonary elements. The circumstances of:the crime committed by Luo Haixing are
serious. The defendants Li Pexcheng and Li Longqing assisted other persons to smuggle across the
border for the purpose of reaping profits and had therefore committed the crime of organizing and
transporting other persons secretly to cross the national boundary. After his arrest, the defendant Luo
Haixing had a more cooperauve attitude towa{ds admitting his guilt, and may deserve a less severe
punishment in light of the circumstances. In view of the facts, nature and circumstances of the crime
committed by the defendants, Luo Haixing, Li Peicheng and Li Longqing, the degree of harm to

society and profession of repentence, in accordance with the provisions of paragraphs 1 of Articles 162,
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v 177 :md64",we ‘.ru',l"e'asff&lylbws: .

1. ThedefendantLuoHalxmg hascommxttedthc crime of harboﬁﬁg‘conhtérrciblutjonary. :
elements and is sentenced to five years of fixed-term imprisonment (the term of the sentence shall,

after offset, run until October 13,.1994).

.. .2 Thedefendant Li Peicheng has committed the crime of harboring counterrevolutionary .
elements and is sentenced to three years of fixed-term imprisonment; he has also committed the crime
- of organizing and transporting other persons secretly to cross the national bondary and is sentenced to

~ four years of fixed-term imprisonment. The total term for-all the crimes is six years of fixed-term

imprisonment. We decide to execute five years of fixed-term imprisonment (the term of the sentence
shall, after offset, run until October 12, 1994). . -~ v ' 5

. 3. Thedefendant Li Longqing has committed the crime of harboring conterrevolutionary
elements and is sentenced to one year of fixed-ferm imprisonment; he has also committed the crime of
organizing and transporting other persons secretly to cross the national boundary and is sentenced to
three years and six months of fixed-term imprisonment. The total term for all the crimes is four years
and six months of fixed-term imprisonment. We decide to execute four years of fixed-term '
imrisonment (the term of the sentence shall, after offset, run until December 4, 1993).

. (ljae term of the aboxc ﬁxcd-term imprisdnm_ént shall in all cases commence from the date of
execution of this judgment.- With respect to custody prior to execution of judgment, each.day of =
cuLstod,y shall be offset as one day’s service of the term of the sentence.) :

For further information:
~Sidney Jones  (212) 972-8400
Mike Jendrzejczyk (202) 371-6592

News From Asia Watch is a publimtiori of Asia Watch, an independent organization created in 1985 to monitor and promote
internationally recognized human rights in Asia. The Chairman is Jack Greenberg, the Vice Chair is Orville Schelle, and the
Executive Director is Sidney Jones.

Asia Walch is a component of Human Rights Watch, which includes Africa Watch, Americas Watch, Helsinki Watch and
Middle East Watch. The Chairman of Human Rights Watch is Robert L. Bernstein and the Vice Chair is Adrian DeWind.
Aryeh Neier is Executive Director; Kenneth Roth, Deputy Director; Holly Burkhalter, Washington Director; Susan Osnos, Press
Director. : .

- Articles 162 anci 177.are dacrnbcd above in notes 8 and 9 respectively. Article 64 provides that persons who
are tried for multiple crimes not punishable by death or life imprisonment, shall be sentenced for a term "less than

the total term for all the crimes but more than the maximum term for any of the crimes,” with a maximum time of
20 years fixed imprisonment.
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